
April12,2010

Regional Administrator
NRC Region lll
2443Warrenville Road
Lisle, lllinois 60532

Dear Sir,

Based on NRC Confirmatory Order (lA-09-026) issued to me on July 28, 2009, I have agreed within 45

days following completion of the next annual program review following issuance of the Confirmatory
Order, to provide the results of the review to the permittee, the NHPP, and the NRC. This annual
program review was presented at the Radiation Safety Committee (RSC) meeting on March 4. Minor
changes to the annual program review were then made and sent out via e-mail to the RSC. Annual
program review actions and changes were approved by the RSC. The annual program review was
presented to the Environment of Care Council and was later approved by the Medical Center Director.

Enclosed is a copy of the signed annual program review with attachments.

lf you have any questions, please contact me at 859-381-5929.

Sincerely,m.M
Enclosure

cc: Director, VA Medical Center, Lexington, Kentucky (electronic copy)
Director, National Health Physics Program (electronic copy)
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DBpanTMENT oF
VnrnnaNs AnnArRS

Date: APR 2? 2009

Memorandum

From: Director, VHA National Health Physics Program (NHPP) (1l5HPAJLR)

Subj: Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Inspection Report (EA-09-014, dated April 15,2009)

ro: Director (596/00), VA Medical Center, Lexington, Kentucky

1. I am attaching subject NRC inspection report for your review and response. The report cites a

Severity Level IV violation for a failure to provide the Radiation Safety Officer adequate time to
perform required duties.

2. You must respond to the four questions in the NRC Notice of Violation (NOV) to include
providing a staternent of the reason for the violation, corrective steps, and the date of full
compliance. Since the circumstances for a similar violation and corrective steps were previously
resolved during the NHPP inspection process, the response must address the status for the
previous NHPP inspection results, this new NRC violation, and evaluation of the radiation safety
program and performance of duties by the Radiation Safety Officer as currently viewed by
executive management.

3. Your response should be received by NHPP not later than May 12,2009, to be forwarded to
NRC. The response may refer to previously submitted correspondence.

4. Please note the NOV must be posted for five working days per l0 CFR 19.1l.

5. Please contact Gary E. Williams at 501-257-1572, if yott have any questions or comments
about the NRC inspection report or required response.

i.\i7"-.\J;
E. t vrtil McGuire

Attachment

cc: Chair, National Radiation Safety Committee
Network Director, VISN 9 (10N9)



UNITED STATES
N UCLEAR REGULATORY CO]IIII|ISSION

REGION III
2443 WARRENVILLE ROAD, SUITE 2IO

LlsLE, |LLTNOTS 60532.4352
April 15,2009

o4_24_09 A10:0? tN

EA-09-014

Mr. E. Lynn McGuire, Director
National Health Physics Program (11SHP/NLR)
Department of Veterans Affairs
Veterans Health Administration
22Q0 ForI Roots Drive
North Littfe Rock, AR 72114

SUBJECT: NRC REVIEW OF NHPP INSPECTION REPORT AND NOTICE OF
VIOLATION DATED JANUARY 24,2008 - DEPARMENT OF VETEMNS
AFFAIRS MEDICAL CENTER, LEXINGTON KY AND NRC
INVESTIGATION REPORT 3-2008.01 3

Dear Mr. McGuire:

This letter refers to the inspection conducted by the Department of Veterans Affairs (DVA)
National Health Physics Program (NHPP) on September 17,2007, with continued in-office
review through December 21,2007, at the DVA Medical Center in Lexington Kentucky. On
January 24,2008, the NHPP reported the Severity Level lll violation to the NRC, in accordance
with the NRC Master Materials License, Letter of Understanding, Condition No. 23. In addition,
on January 24,2008, the DVA issued an Inspection Report and Notice of Violation. The Notice
of Violation documented a Severity Level lll problem for the willful failure of the Radiation Safety
Officer to perform required duties.

Because the DVA concluded that the violation involved wrong-doing, the NRC followed its
internal processes and conducted an investigation by the NRC Office of Investigations (Ol).
The Ol completed its investigation and issued its conclusion in an investigation report dated
December 18, 2008. A factual summary of the results of their investigation is included in
Enclosure 2. On April 8, 2009, a telephone exit meeting was held between you and Patricia
Pelke, Chief, Materials Licensing Branch, to discuss the result of NRC's review.

The NRC evaluated the information provided in your inspection report, the information obtained
from the Ol investigation and the information provided by the permitee in response to your
inspection report. The NRC concluded that the violations were correctly categorized as a
Severity Level lll problem, as stated in the inspection report, although the violation cited against
10 CFR 71 and 49 CFR 172.704 would have been more correctly cited against 10 CFR 71.5
invoking 49 CFR 172.704(c\(2).

Additionally, based on the results of the investigation, the NRC has determined that a Severity
Level lV violation of NRC requirements occurred. The violation was evaluated in accordance
with the NRC Enforcement Policy. The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC's
Web site at (http://www.nrc.qov/abou ). The violation
is cited in the enclosed Notice of Violation (Notice). The violation is being cited in the



E. L. McGuire

Notlce because it was identified by the NRC during our review of your inspection and the Ol
investigation results.

The violation involved the non-willful failure of the permitee to ensure that the Radiation Safety
Officer had sufficient time and resources to perform his NRC-required duties as required by
10 CFR 35.24(g) when the collateral duty of Controlled Substance Coordinator was assigned to
him and when the duties associated with that position expanded in 2005.

You are required to respond to this letter and should follow the instructions specified in the
enclosed Notice when preparing your response. For your consideration and convenience, an
excerpt from NRC lnformation Notice 96-28, "Suggested Guidance Relating to Development
and lmplementation of Corrective Action," is enclosed. The NRC will use your response, in part,
to determine whether further enforcement action is necessary to ensure compliance with
regulatory req uirements.

ln accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter,
its enclosure, and your response, if you choose to provide one, will be made available
electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room orfrom the
NRC's document system (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC Web site at
http://www.nrc.qov/readinq-rm/adams.html. To the extent possible, your response
should not include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it
can be made available to the Public without redaction.

Docket No. 030-34325
License No. 03-23853-01 VA
Permit No. 16-08896-04

Enclosures:
1. Notice of Violation
2. Summary of Office of Investigations

Report 3 2008 013
3. Excerpt from NRC lnformation

Notice 96-28

cc: State of KY

-2-



NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Department of Veterans Affairs
Lexington, Kentucky

Docket No. 030-34325
License No. 03-23853-01VA

As a result of an NRC investigation documented in Investigation Report 3-2008-013, dated
December 18, 2008, a violation of NRC requirements was identified. ln accordance with the
NRC Enforcement Policy, the violation is listed below:

Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Section 35.24(9) requires the licensee
to provide the Radiation Safety Officer sufficient authority, organizationalfreedom, time,
resources, and management prerogative, to (1) ldentify radiation safety problems; (2)
Initiate, recommend, or provide corrective actions; (3) Stop unsafe operations; and, (4)
Verify implementation of corrective actions.

Contrary to the above, the licensee did not provide the Radiation Safety Officer sufficient
authority, time, and resources to identify radiation safety problems; initiate, iecommend,
or provide corrective actions; stop unsafe operations; and verify implementation of
corrective actions, in that, around September 2005, the licensee assigned a collateral
duty to the RSO (Controlled Substance Coordinator) which compromised his ability to
successfully perform radiation safety responsibilities from September 2005 until
September 2007.

This is a Severity Level lV violation (Supplement Vl)

Pursuant to the provisions of Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 2.201, the
Department of Veterans Affairs is hereby required to submit a written statement or explanation
to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN: Document Control Desk, Washington, DC
20555- 0001, with a copy to the RegionalAdministrator, Region lll, 2443Wanenville Road, Lisle
lL 60532, within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting this Notice of Violation (Notice).
This reply should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of Violation" and should include for
each violation: (1) the reason for the violation, or, if contested, the basis for disputing the
violation or severity level, (2) the corective steps that have been taken and the results
achieved, (3) the corrective steps that will be taken to avoid further violations, and (4) the date
when full compliance will be achieved; Your response may reference or include previous
docketed conespondence, if the correspondence adequately addresses the required response.
lf an adequate reply is not received within the time specified in this Notice, an order or a
Demand for lnformation may be issued as to why the license should not be modified,
suspended, or revoked, or why such other action as may be proper should not be taken. Where
good cause is shown, consideration will be given to extending the response time.

lf you contest this enforcement action, you should also provide a copy of your response, with
the basis for your denial, to the Director, Office of Enforcement, United States Nuclear
Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001.

Because your response will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC
Public Document Room orfrom the NRC's document system (ADAMS), accessible from the
NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.oov/readinq-rm/adams.htmlto the extent possible, it should not

Enclosure 1



Notice of Violation

include any personal privacy, proprietary or safeguards information so that il can be made
available to the public without redaction. lf personal privacy or proprietary information is
necessary to provide an acceptable response, then please provide a bracketed copy of your
response that identifies the information that should be protected and a redacted copy of your
response that deletes such information. lf you request withholding of such material, you must
specifically identify the portions of your response that you seek to have withheld and provide in
detail the bases for your claim of withholding (e.9., explain why the disclosure of information will
create an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy or provide the information required by 10
CFR 2.390(b) to support a request for withholding confidential commercial or financial
information). lf safeguards information is necessary to provide an acceptable response, please
provide the levelof protection described in 10 CFR 73.21.

fn accordance with 10 CFR 19.11, you may be required to post this Notice within two working
days.

Dated this 1Sth day of April, 2009

Enclosure 1



SUMMARY OF OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS REPORT 3-2008,013

The Office of Investigations report involves a radiation safety officer (RSO) who acknowledged
that, over the course of approximately two years, he deliberately failed to (1) perform required
annual reviews of the radiation safety program; (2) hold required periodic Radiation Safety
Committee meetings for approximately a two year period; and (3) provide required Hazardous
Material (HAZMAT) training to Nuclear Medical Technicians involved in the transportation of
radioactive materials.

During an inspection conducted by the National Health Physics Program (NHPP) under the
Department of Veterans Affairs (DVA) Master Material license (MML), the RSO admitted to the
NHPP inspector that he had not been performing all of the duties required of an RSO. On
January 24,2008, the NHPP issued its inspection report which included a Severity Level lll
violation for the RSO's willful failure to perform his required duties.

The Office of lnvestigations interviewed the RSO and his supervisor. The RSO acknowledged
that, in his duties as the RSO, he was responsible for conducting annual reviews of the radiation
safety program, holding periodic Radiation Safety Committee meetings, and conducting
required HMMAT training for Nuclear MedicalTechnicians involved in the transportation of
radioactive materials. He also acknowledged that he failed to perform these duties for
approximately a two-year period because of other workload and that he did not inform his
management that required RSO duties were not being performed. The RSO stated that he
knew that the required duties were NRC requirements and that he was not meeting those
requirements, but thought that he could get "caught up" on the duties.

Enclosure 2



EXCERPT FROM INFORMATTON NOTTCE (lN) 96-28, "SUGGESTED GUIDANCE
RELATING TO DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF CORRECTIVE ACTION"

The corrective action process should involve the following three steps:

1. Conduct a complete and thorough review of the circumstances that led to the violation.
Typically, such reviews include:

1. Interviews with individuals who are either directly or indirectly involved in the
violation, including management personnel and those responsible for training or
procedure developmenVguidance. Particular attention should be paid to lines of
communication between supervisors and workers.

2. Tours and observations of the area where the violation occurred, particularly
when those reviewing the incident do not have day-to-day contact with the
operation under review. During the tour, individuals should look for items that
may have contributed to the violation as well as those items that may result in
future violations. Reenactments (without use of radiation sources, if they were
involved in the original incident) may be warranted to better understand what
actually occurred.

3. Review of programs, procedures, audits, and records that relate directly or
indirectly to the violation. The program should be reviewed to ensure that its
overall objectives and requirements are clearly stated and implemented.
Procedures should be reviewed to determine whether they are complete, logical,
understandable, and meet their objectives (i.e., they should ensure compliance
with the current requirements). Records should be reviewed to determine
whether there is sufficient documentation of necessary tasks to provide an
auditable record and to determine whether similar violations have occurred
previously. Particular attention should be paid to training and qualification
records of individuals involved with the violation.

2. ldentify the root cause of the violation.

Corrective actlon is not comprehensive unless it addresses the root cause(s) of the
violation. lt is essential, therefore, that the root cause(s) of a violation be identified so
that appropriate action can be taken to prevent further noncompliance in this area, as
well as other potentially affected areas. Violations typically have direct and indirect
cause(s). As each cause is identified, ask what other factors could have contributed to
the cause. When it is no longer possible to identifu other contributing factors, the root
causes probably have been identified. For example, the direct cause of a violation may
be a failure to follow procedures; the indirect causes may be inadequate training, lack of
attention to detail, and inadequate time to carry out an activity. These factors may have
been caused by a lack of staff resources that, in turn, are indicative of lack of
management support. Each of these factors must be addressed before corrective action
is considered to be comprehensive.

Enclosure 3



lN 96-28 Excerpt

3. Take prompt and comprehensive corrective action that will address the immediate
concerns and prevent recurrence of the violation.

It is important to take immediate corrective action to address the specific findings of the
violation. For example, if the violation was issued because radioactive material was
found in an unrestricted area, immediate corrective action must be taken to place the
material under licensee control in authorized locations. After the immediate safety
concerns have been addressed, timely action must be taken to prevent future recurrence
of the violation. Gorrective action is sufficiently comprehensive when corrective action is
broad enough to reasonably prevent recurrence of the specific violation as well as
prevent similar violations.

In evaluating the root causes of a violation and developing effective corrective action, consider
the following:

1- Has management been informed of the violation(s)?

2. Have the programmatic implications of the cited violation(s) and the potential presence
of similar weaknesses in other program areas been considered in formulating corrective
actions so that both areas are adequately addressed?

Have precursor events been considered and factored into the corrective actions?

In the event of loss of radioactive material, should security of radioactive material be
enhanced?

Has your staff been adequately trained on the applicable requirements?

Should personnel be re-tested to determine whether re-training should be emphasized
for a given area? ls testing adequate to ensure understanding of requirements and
procedures?

Has your staff been notified of the violation and of the applicable corrective action?

Are audits sufficiently detailed and frequently performed? Should the frequency of
periodic audits be increased?

ls there a need for retaining an independent technical consultant to audit the area of
concern or revise your procedures?

Are the procedures consistent with current NRC requirements, should they be clarified,
or should new procedures be developed?

11. ls a system in place for keeping abreast of new or modified NRC requirements?

12. Does your staff appreciate the need to consider safety in approaching daily
assignments?

-3-

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

Enclosure 3



lN 96-28 Excerpt

13. Are resources adequate to perform, and maintain control over, the licensed activities?
Has the radiation saf6ty officer been provided sufficient time and resources to perform
his or her oversight duties?

14. Have work hours affected the employees' ability to safely perform the job?

15. Should organizational changes be made (e.9., changing the reporting relationship of the
radiation safety officer to provide increased independence)?

16. Are management and the radiation safety officer adequately involved in oversight and
implementation of the licensed activities? Do supervisors adequately observe new
employees and difficult, unique, or new operations?

17. Has management established a work environment that encourages employees to raise
safety and compliance concerns?

18. Has management placed a premium on production over compliance and safety? Does
management demonstrate a commitment to compliance and safety?

19. Has management communicated its expectations for safety and compliance?

20. ls there a published discipline policy for safety violations, and are employees aware of
it? ls it being followed?

The complete lnformation Notice may be found on the NRC's web site in the Electronic Reading
Room, Collections of Documents by Type, Generic Communications, Information Notices, 1996
or directly from http://www.nrc.qov/readinq-rm/doc-collections/qen-comm/info-notices/1996/ and
then selecting the Information Notice.

Enclosure 3



DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS
Veterans Health Administration
National Health Physics Program

2200 Fort Roots Drive
North Little Rock, AR 72114

lfAY 14 3[m In Reply Refer To: 598i I 1sHP/l,lLR

Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)
Attn: Document Control Desk
Washington, DC 20555-0001

Re: NRC License No. 03-23853-0lVA NRC DocketNo. 030-34325; EA-09-014

Dear Sir or Madame:

This letter is a response to your letter dated April 15, 2009, and includes a "Reply to a Notice of
Violation."

Our response is provided by the enclosed memorandum dated May 11,2009, from VA Medical
Center, Lexington, Kentucky. The memorandum has specific details to address the questions in
the Notice of Violation.

We accept the violation as cited. We consider the corrective actions and the current status for the
radiation safety program as stated in the memorandum to be adequate to close the violation. We
will confirm continued compliance during future inspections.

If you have any questions, please contact Gary E. Williams at 501-257 -1572.

Sincerely,

Enclosure

cc: Regional Administrator, NRC Region III



Oepartment of
Veterans Affairs

Date: May 11,2009

From: Director (596/00), VA Medical Center, Lexington, Kentucky

Subj: Repty to a Notice of Violation, Docket No. 030-34325

ro: Director, VHA NationalHealth Physics Program (11SHP/NLR)

Memorandum

Below provides our written response to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission investigation and
Notice of Violation dated April 15, 2009.

(1) The reason for the violation:
The administrative controls and policies governing the Radiation Safe$ Offtcer (RSO) and
Radiation Safety Committee (RSC) during the period from September 2005 until September
2007 werc not strict enough to provide the RSO sufiicient authority. time, and resources to
successfully perform all of his radiation safety responsibilities which in part was due to the
RSO's assigned collateral duty as the Controlled Substance Coordinator.

(2) The corrective steps that have been taken and the results aehieved:
(a) The RSO was relieved from his collateralduties as the Controlled Substance Coordinator

(CSC) effeclive at the end of September 20A7. This has provided the RSO the time to
successfully perform allof his radialion safety responsibilities which has included
performing required annual reviews of the radiation safety program, hofding required
periodic RSC meetings and providing required DOT Hazardous Materials training 1o

Nuclear Medicine staff involved in the transporlation of radioactive materials. The CSC
duties were removed from the RSO's position desoiplion and performance plan.

(b) The RSO was re-assigned from the Chief of Nuclear Medicine Service to report to {he
Assosiate Director in July 2007. Since the hiring of the Chief of Radiology Service, the
RSO has been re-assigned effective April 2009 to report to the Chief of Radiology who
also is the current RSC Chair.

tc) The RSG was re-established in September 2A07 which included the appointment of the
Associate Director as the management representative. The Chief of Staff was appointed
as the inteim Chair eflective Novernber 2007 and the Chief of Radiology was made the
Chair effective May 2008- The policy governing the Committee was redefined eifective
October 2007. This policy clarified the responsibilities of the RSO and the RSC along
with other reporting requirements (e.9., meelings scheduled on a recurring date each

' quarter, minutes to be presented at a higher level safety committee, i.e., Environment of
Care), As of today, the RSC has met at least quarterly since September 2007 and has
reviewed ihe required annual reviews of the radiation safety program.

(d) The Environment of Care Committee (ECC) has updated its committee policy effective
January 2008 which now includes the RSO responsibility to present lhe RSC minutes to
the ECC. As of today, the RSC minutes since September 2007 have been presented to
the ECC at least quarterly.

Reply to a Notice of Violation. Docket No. 030-34325 Pagel of2



(3) The corrective st€ps that have been taken to avoid further viofations:
As noted above the RSG and ECC policies have been updated to provide stricter controlover
the RSO as it pertains to his radiation safety responsibilities. Both committees now include
tracking measures to assure that these dutieb are being performed (e.9., RSC meeting
timetables, quarterly trending reports. DOT training due dates, ECC reporting matrix)

(4) The date when full compliance will be achieved:
We were in full compliance as of August 28, 2008 based on our last unannounced VHA
National Health Physics Program (NHPP) that occurred on that date when no violations were
identified and the previotrs violations (i.e-, from September 2007 NHPP inspection) were
closed. See attached NHPP inspection report.

For questions regarding this response, please contact Michael. T. Hackett, MS, Radiation Safety
Officer, at (859) 381-5929 or via e-mail at michael.hackett@va.gov.

=\-A45.--aJ-Salrdy#FlDlsen, FACHE

Altachment

Reply lo a Notice of Violation, Docket No. 030-34325 Page2ot2.



DpplnrupNT oF
Vnrnnaxs Arrarns

Dare: AUG 26 ?008

Memorandum

From: Director, VHA National Health Physic.s Program (IISIIPAILR)

subj: Radiation Safety Program Inspection - Inspection Report 596-08-101

ro: Director (596/00), VA Medical Center, Lexington, Kentucky

1. Gary E. Williams, VHA National Health Physics Program, inspected the radiation safety
program at VA Medical Center, Irxington, Kentucky, on August 21,2M8.

2. T\e inspection report is attached and consists of an NIIPP Form 591 with no violations cited
and a decommissioning worksheet completed during this inspection.

3. You are not required to respond to this memorandum or return a signed NIIPP Form 591.

4. Please contact Mr. Williams at (501) 257-1572, if you have any questions or comments about
the inspection.

!'"fuw
Attachment

cc: Chair, National Radiation Safety Committee
Network Director, VISN 9 (10N9)



NHPP FORM 591
(1-2008)

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND

VHA National Health Physics Program

COMPLIANCE INSPECTION

1, PERMITTEE/PERMIT NUMBER:

VA MedicalCenter
Lexington, Kentucky
16-08896-04

2. LOCATTON(S) TNSPECTED:

1101 Veterans Drive
Lexingto n, Kentucky 40502-2236

3. fNSPECTION DATES: August 21,2008 4. INSPECTION REPORT NUMBER: 596-08-101

PERMITTEE:
The inspection was an examination of activities under your permit as they relate to radiation safety and compliance with
Nuclear Regulatory Commission rules and regulations and your permit conditions. The inspection consisted of selective
examinations of procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and performance-based observations
by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows:

E t. Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.

8 Z. Previous violation(s) closed.

I g. The vio]ation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non+iied, are not being cited because they were
self-identified, non-repetitive, corective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC
Enforcement Policy, NUREG-I600, to exercise discretion, were satisfied.

Non-cited violation(s) were discussed involving the following requirement(s) and corrective action(s):

fl 4. During this inspection certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of Nuclear
Regulatory Commission requirements and are being cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be
subject to posting per 10 CFR 19.11. The violations and correclive actions are as follows:

STATEMENT OF CORRECTIVE ACTIONS

I hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the inspector will be taken to conect the violations idenlified. This
statement of conective actions is made per 10 CFR 2.201 (conective steps already taken, conective steps which will be traken, date
when full compliance will be achieved). I understand no further written response to the VHA National Health Physics Program will be
required, unless specifically requested.

TITLE PRINTED NAME SIGNATURE DATE

PERMITTEE

NHPP INSPECTOR Gary E. Williams ftuQ*- August 22,2008

NHPPFORMS9T (r-2008)
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